FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/20/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/30/2022 10:12 AM

### No. 101384-1 SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARGRETTY RABANG and ROBERT RABANG, Petitioners,

v.

RORY GILLILAND, MICHAEL ASHBY, ANDY GARCIA, RAYMOND DODGE, and JOHN DOES 1–10, Respondents.

#### PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Gabriel S. Galanda, WSBA #30331
Galanda Broadman, PLLC
Attorney for Petitioners
8606 35<sup>th</sup> Avenue NE, Suite L1
Seattle, WA 98115
(206) 557-7509

### **

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Margretty and Robert Rabang seek review of the Court of Appeals' affirmation of the trial court's dismissal of their emotional distress claims arising from the threatened taking of their home on off-reservation tribal lands.

#### **B. DECISION BELOW**

On August 15, 2022, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Superior Court's dismissal of Petitioners' emotional distress claims, albeit on different grounds ("Opinion"). On September 2, 2022, Petitioners sought reconsideration of that decision pursuant to RAP 12.4(c) because the Court of Appeals overlooked both Washington State and U.S. Supreme Court precedent regarding personal-capacity claims against tribal employees. Division I denied reconsideration on September 8, 2022. Petitioners seek review by this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), 13.4(b)(2), and 13.4(b)(4).

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Court of Appeals impermissibly broadened

tribal sovereign immunity by ignoring U.S. Supreme Court and other federal precedent, in violation of *Long v. Snoqualmie Gaming Commission*, 7 Wn. App. 2d 672, 681 (2019), which instructs that "Washington courts must . . . apply federal law to resolve whether tribal sovereign immunity applies."

- 2. Whether Division I erred in concluding that tribal employees stand immune from tort suit when they act within their employment scope. That conclusion directly conflicts with the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Lewis v. Clarke*, 137 S. Ct. 1285, 1288 (2017), which holds: "That an employee was acting within the scope of his employment at the time the tort was committed is not, on its own, sufficient to bar a suit against that employee on the basis of tribal sovereign immunity."
- 3. Whether Division I's expansion of tribal sovereign immunity to shield tribal employees from personal-capacity tort suits should stand without full consideration and briefing, given the significant public impact. That impact is to significantly limit the ability of individuals injured by tribal employees to obtain

any tort remedy, despite this Court's conclusion in *Wright v*. *Colville Tribal Enterprise Corp.*, 159 Wn.2d 108, 116 (2006) (en banc), that "tribal sovereign immunity would not protect [a tribal employee] from an action against him in his individual capacity."

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This controversy concerns the emotional distress inflicted upon Margretty and Robert Rabang ("the Rabangs") over a fourmonth period from early October 2016 through early January 2017—particularly the Christmas weekend—when Respondents attempted to eject the Rabangs and take their home without due process in violation of a U.S. Department of the Interior ("Interior") directive to cease those efforts. A-0004-0008.

The Rabangs have lived at 5913 Johnny Drive in Deming, Washington, pictured below, for nearly thirty years. A-0026.



The Rabangs' home sits within the public housing project in Deming known as "Rutsatz" (because it adjoins Whatcom County's Rutsatz Road). *Cf. id.* The Rutsatz housing project, which has been developed and administered at Nooksack with U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD") and other federal low income housing funds, is located on tribal trust lands outside of the Nooksack Indian Reservation. A-0049.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Federal or state constitutional protections against property right deprivation or taking are inapplicable to tribal member or nonmember homeowners on tribal trust lands, including along Puget

The Rabangs participate in HUD's Mutual Help home ownership program, through which they have regularly made "monthly equity" payments since 1996. A-0003, -0019. By no sooner than 2011 and no later than 2021—years fifteen to twenty-five of their federal "mortgage"—the Rabangs were eligible to apply their accrued equity towards a "purchase price . . . amortized over the course of [their] occupancy," and acquire their home. A-0019-20. By October 2016, the Rabangs needed to pay only an additional \$9,326.69 to receive a deed to their home. A-0003.

On October 3, 2016, Respondent Rory Gilliland, the former Nooksack Tribal Police Chief, directed a John Doe Respondent-police officer to serve Mrs. Rabang with a notice to

Sound and Lake Chelan shorefronts. *Talton v. Mayes*, 163 U.S. 376, 384 (1896) (federal bill of rights inapplicable in Indian country); *Santa Clara Pueblo v. Martinez*, 436 U.S. 49, 72 (1978) (same); *Worcester v Georgia*, 31 U.S. (6 Pet.) 515 (1832) (state law has "no force" in Indian country); *State v. Yallup*, 160 Wn. App. 500, 504 (2011) ("state law apply only to the extent authorized by Congress.").

vacate at her home. A-0004. Mrs. Rabang sought injunctive relief to prevent the taking in tribal court, but her lawyers' appearance notice was "REJECTED" and Respondent Ray Dodge refused to convene her lawsuit, in violation of her due process rights. *Id*.<sup>2</sup>

On December 14, 2016, Respondent Dodge ordered the Rabangs evicted from their home, which was tantamount to a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At that time, Respondent Dodge was serving as "Chief Judge" and, according to multiple contemporaneous judicial accounts, openly subverting justice and violating litigants' due process rights. The National American Indian Court Judges Association rebuked "Mr. Dodge," explaining to him: "while you have occupied the position of Chief Judge at Nooksack, proceedings do not appear to have been conducted in compliance with the federal [Indian Civil Rights Act] or fundamental tenets of tribal due process at law." A-0027-28. Whatcom County Superior Court Debora Garrett likewise stated she was "very concerned about this situation including what the Court sees as serious procedural irregularities," explaining: "Clearly there's a problem here . . . in [the Court's] view, the Tribal Court is acting in a way that causes great question about the ability of this – this Tribe in this situation to manage a trial court that is truly fair and truly accords due process to Tribal members." A-0032. Similarly, Whatcom County Superior Court Ira Uhrig refused to "recognize" as lawful or carrying any legal effect the actions or decisions of the Nooksack Tribal Court after March 24, 2016." Id.

taking of their vested home buyership rights,<sup>3</sup> including the home equity they accrued over the prior twenty years. A-0007; A-0019-20. Dodge directed Respondents Gilliland and Mike Ashby to "forcibly evict" the Rabangs from their home by December 28, 2016. A-0007-008.

On December 19, 2016, Dodge ordered the Rabangs to show cause why they "should not be held in contempt." *Id.* That same day, Respondent Andy Garcia arrived at the Rabangs' home along with a Doe Respondent-patrol officer, ostensibly for

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See In re Marriage of MacDonald, 104 Wash.2d 745, 750 (1985) (recognizing a vested property right is entitled to due process protection, provided it is "more than a mere expectation . . . it must have become a title, legal or equitable, to the present or future enjoyment of property") (quoting Godfrey v. State, 84 Wn.2d 959, 963, 530 P.2d 630 (1975) (emphasis deleted); Culmback v. Stevens, 158 Wash. 675, 680 (1930) ("Whether the contract . . . did or did not vest in them the title to the property, or did or did not vest in them an interest therein, it did vest in them a right through which they could, on the performance of the contract, enforce a conveyance to them of the property . . .").

a home "inspection." A-0008, -0046. Mr. Rabang denied them access to his home. *Id*.

On Thursday, December 22, 2016, Dodge issued his third eviction order in a week, further directing Gilliland and Ashby to "forcibly remove" the Rabangs over the Christmas weekend or otherwise within six days. A-0008. He also ordered the Rabangs to appear on January 11, 2017 and show cause why they should not be held in contempt of his eviction order. *Id*.

On Friday, December 23, 2016, the United States' then highest ranking Indian Affairs official, Interior's Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary ("PDAS") Lawrence Roberts,

т 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Nooksack routinely "mobilizes" armed officers to physically intimidate low income housing tenants and homebuyers at their doorsteps. Mike Baker, *A Tribe's Bitter Purge Brings an Unusual Request: Federal Intervention*, N.Y. Times, Jan. 2, 2022, at A1. Such strong-armed tactics at Nooksack have resulted in physical harm to both tribal members and nonmembers. *See, e.g., Adams v. United States*, Case. No. 2:21-cv-01289-TSZ, ECF No. 14 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 15, 2022) (dismissal upon United States' settlement of assault and battery claims brought against Nooksack law enforcement officers, including Respondents Dodge and Ashby).

interceded; he took the extraordinary action of invalidating Dodge's eviction orders against the Rabangs, as well as other "so-called tribal court actions and orders." A-0057-58

Pursuant to the Interior Secretary's plenary authority over Indian affairs—which includes determining who has agency to act on behalf of an Indian tribe (25 U.S.C. § 2)— PDAS Roberts proclaimed:

It has come to the Department's attention that orders of eviction may have been recently issued to be served by the Nooksack Chief of Police or could be issued and served in the near future. . . . [A]s explained to you above and in the previous letters to you, those orders are invalid and the Department does not recognize them as lawful . . . Enforcement of invalid or unlawful orders is outside of a law enforcement officer's duties . . . .

*Id.* As with two prior determinations issued by Interior, on October 17, 2016, and November 14, 2016, PDAS Roberts invalidated "any actions" taken in the name of the Nooksack Indian Tribe ("Tribe") from March 24, 2016, through December 23, 2016. *Id.*; A-0004-6. That included "any actions" taken by

Respondents against the Rabangs during that time period or relative to Dodge's "so-called" eviction orders.<sup>5</sup> *Id*.

The Rabangs filed suit in Whatcom County Superior Court on January 31, 2017. A-0001. Their complaint includes two causes of action for damages: intentional infliction of emotional distress, and negligent infliction of emotional distress. A-0009–11; *see Bly v. Field Asset Services*, No. 14-cv-0254, 2014 WL 2452755, at \*5 (W.D. Wash. June 2, 2014) (recognizing

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Court of Appeals erred in suggesting that Interior could not "invalidate relevant Nooksack actions" because it lacks "authority over the Nooksack Tribe, a sovereign entity." A-0054. Interior's Secretary possesses plenary authority over "all Indian affairs and . . . all matters arising out of Indian relations" at Nooksack, including deciding whether actors duly represent an Indian tribe, or not. 25 U.S.C. § 2; *Timbisha Shoshone Tribe v. Salazar*, 678 F.3d 935, 938 (D.C. Cir. 2012) ("we owe deference to the judgment of the Executive Branch as to who represents a tribe."); *see Nooksack Indian Tribe v. Zinke*, No. C17-0219-JCC, 2017 WL 1957076, at \*4–6 (W.D. Wash. May 11, 2017) (lacking Interior's recognition, the "Nooksack Tribe" lacked standing to challenge PDAS Roberts' three 2016 determinations).

emotional distress claims arising from illegal eviction efforts).

The Rabangs did not plead any property rights claim. *Id*.

Pivotally, the Rabangs pleaded that "Tribal sovereign immunity does not bar Plaintiffs' personal capacity claims against Defendants for their own tortious conduct." A-0002 (citing, *inter alia, Wright*, 159 Wn.2d at 116; *Pistor v. Garcia*, 791 F.3d 1104, 1112 (9th Cir. 2015) (citing *Maxwell v. Cnty. of San Diego*, 708 F.3d 1075, 1089 (9th Cir. 2013)). Moreover, they only prayed for emotional distress relief "against Defendants in their personal capacities." A-0011.

On September 8, 2021, the Superior Court dismissed the Rabangs' emotional distress claims without prejudice pursuant to CR 12(b)(1), holding that because the Rabangs alleged "injury stemming directly from the Nooksack Tribal Court's issuance of an eviction order and the Nooksack Tribal Police's execution of the same," it lacked subject-matter jurisdiction. A-0042. After the Rabangs timely sought reconsideration, the trial court found that Washington's Public Law 280 statute, RCW 37.12.060

prevented it from exercising subject-matter jurisdiction. A-0043. The trial court never ruled on tribal sovereign immunity. *Id*.

On August 15, 2022, the Court of Appeals disagreed with the trial court that RCW 37.12.060 precluded state court subjectmatter jurisdiction, because the Rabangs' distress claims are "not dependent on the court assessing the validity of the tribe's eviction or property ownership proceedings." A-0051. But the appeals court affirmed the trial court's "conclusion that it did not have subject matter jurisdiction over the dispute" on other grounds, holding "that sovereign immunity precludes state court jurisdiction." Id. at 12. Division I concluded that Respondents' alleged actions were "squarely official in their scope," id.—an conclusion squarely in conflict with the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in Lewis, 137 S. Ct. at 1291, as well as this Court's conclusion in Wright, 159 Wn.2d at 116.

Because the Court of Appeals apparently overlooked *Lewis* and *Wright*, as well as the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals' decision in *Pistor*, 791 F.3d at 1108, the Rabangs sought

reconsideration on September 2, 2022. *See* A-0056; *Long*, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 681 ("Washington courts must and do apply federal law to resolve whether tribal sovereign immunity applies."). The Rabangs' reconsideration request was denied on September 8, 2022. A-0056. This timely petition follows.

#### E. ARGUMENT

Review is necessary to correct the error committed by the Court of Appeals. First, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals Opinion stands in conflict with decisions by the Washington Supreme Court and the U.S. Supreme Court. Second, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because Division I's Opinion conflicts with its own published decisions. Finally, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because whether tribal sovereign immunity should be expanded as a result of the Opinion is a matter of substantial public interest; it not only affects the Rabangs, but dramatically limits the ability of any person injured by a tribal employee to pursue any manner of tort claim.

The Court of Appeals' Opinion stands in conflict with Wright, where this Court concluded that sovereign immunity does not protect tribal employees when sued in their individual capacities. 159 Wn.2d at 116; see also RAP 13.4(b)(1). The Opinion also conflicts with Division I's own published decisions in Long, 7 Wn. App. 2d 681, and Young v. Duenas, 164 Wn. App. 343, 348–349 (2011), which require its application of federal law such as *Lewis* and *Pistor* to tribal sovereign immunity questions. RAP 13.4(b)(2). In addition, this petition involves an issue of substantial public interest: whether, in accordance with the U.S. Supreme Court's *Lewis* decision, individuals injured by tribal can bring personal-capacity tort employees actions in Washington State.<sup>6</sup> RAP 13.4(b)(4).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Respondents agree that due to "the expanding nature of Tribal commercial and governmental operations, and the frequency of nontribal contact with Tribal operations and their employees," as well as involvement between "members of the general public . . . with Tribes, Tribal members, or their aboriginal lands," this issue is of substantial public interest. *Rabang v. Gilliland*, No. 834865, Motion to Publish (Div. I Aug. 23, 2022) at 8–9.

The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that tribal sovereign immunity arises "[u]nder federal law." A-0051(quoting *Young*, 164 Wn. App. at 348–349). Indeed, "Washington courts must and do apply federal law to resolve whether tribal sovereign immunity applies." Long, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 681. In particular, U.S. Supreme Court decisions bind this Court on questions of tribal sovereign immunity. *Id.*; see also Cash Advance and Preferred Cash Loans v. State, 242 P.3d 1099, 1110–1111 (Colo. 2010) (state court of appeals' sovereign immunity analysis was "contrary to federal law" because it "contradict[ed] U.S. Supreme Court precedent"). Division I relied heavily on its decision in Young, but overlooked the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in Lewis and related Ninth Circuit precedent regarding personal-capacity suits against tribal actors.

In *Lewis*, two individuals filed a negligence claim in state court against a tribal employee that, as here, arose off the reservation. 137 S. Ct. at 1289. In an opinion authored by Justice Sonia Sotomayor, the Supreme Court held that tribal sovereign

immunity "is simply not in play" because the tribal employee, not a tribal agency, "is the real party in interest." *Id.* at 1291. The Lewis court distinguished between "an official-capacity claim," where "the relief sought is only nominally against the official and in fact is against the official's office and thus the sovereign itself," and personal-capacity suits, which "seek to impose *individual* liability upon a government officer for actions taken under color of state law." *Id.* (original emphasis; citation, internal quotations omitted). While defendants in officialcapacity actions may assert sovereign immunity, that defense "does not erect a barrier against suits to impose individual and personal liability." Id. (internal quotations omitted); see also Wright, 159 Wn.2d at 116 ("Of course, tribal sovereign immunity would not protect [a tribal employee] from an action against him in his individual capacity.").

Here, the Rabangs' claims were mischaracterized as official-capacity claims by the Court of Appeals. *See* A-0052. Because the Rabangs expressly pleaded personal-capacity claims

against Respondents, tribal sovereign immunity is not a defense.

See A-0002, -0011 (pleading claims and praying for relief against Respondents "in their personal capacities").

As in Lewis, Respondents here are alleged to have committed state torts on off- reservation lands while working for an Indian tribe. See A-0002; see also Lewis, 137 S. Ct. at 1289. Also as in Lewis, the Rabangs claims do not seek any relief from the Tribe; instead, they seek to impose "individual and personal liability" on the individual Respondents. *Id.*; see A-0002, -0011. According to *Lewis*, the Rabangs' distress claims are personalcapacity claims and not official-capacity claims. See Lewis, 137 S. Ct. at 1291. As such, sovereign immunity does not shield Respondents from those claims. See id; see also Maxwell, 708 F.3d at 1089 ("our tribal sovereign immunity cases do not question the general rule that individual officers are liable when sued in their individual capacities.").

The Court of Appeals considered whether "the activities complained of . . . are squarely official in their scope." A-0052.

But that is not the appropriate inquiry under *Lewis*. 137 S. Ct. at 1291; *see also Acres Bonusing, Inc. v. Marston*, 17 F.4<sup>th</sup> 901, 910 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2021) (holding the district court erred by focusing on whether "the defendants were functioning as the Tribe's officials or agents when the alleged acts were committed"). The focus must be on the relief that is sought. *Id.* Division I understood the Rabangs sought only emotional distress remedies. A-0051 (the Rabangs' claims are "not dependent on the court assessing the validity of the tribe's eviction or property ownership proceedings."). But the appeals court erred by focusing on Respondents' employment scope rather than the relief the Rabangs sought. A-0052; *Lewis*. 137 S. Ct. at 1291.

The U.S. Supreme Court's analysis in *Lewis* tracks with the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals' approach. In *Pistor v. Garcia*, which preceded *Lewis*, patrons alleged tort claims against tribal police officers after they were handcuffed and seized of money at a casino. 791 F.3d at 1108. The Ninth Circuit held that tribal sovereign immunity did not bar the claims against

the officers because "the defendants were sued in their individual rather than their official capacities, as any recovery will run against the individual tribal defendants, rather than the tribe." *Id.* 

Here, the Rabangs conceded in their complaint that any recovery for emotional distress will run against the individual Respondents, not the Tribe. *See* A-0002, -0011. Even if the Tribe defends or indemnifies Respondents, federal law makes clear that any recovery is deemed to come from the individuals and, therefore, sovereign immunity does not apply. *Id.* at 1114; *see also Lewis*, 137 S. Ct. at 1293 (noting indemnification "does not somehow convert the suit . . . into a suit against the sovereign").

The Court of Appeals failed to consider *Lewis*, *Pistor*, or *Wright*. *See* A-0051-52. It was error to determine that "the activities complained of . . . are squarely official in their scope," especially under a Rule 12(b)(1) standard. *Id*. Because Respondents are sued in their personal capacities and any remedy would expressly not operate against the Tribe, sovereign immunity does not apply. *Lewis*, 137 S. Ct. at 1291.

#### F. CONCLUSION

As the Ninth Circuit wrote in summarizing *Lewis*: "True, Clarke crashed into the Lewises while performing his job as a tribal employee." *Acres Bonusing*, 17 F.4th at 909. Here, even if it could be said that any Respondent was performing their job when threatening to forcibly take the Rabangs' home over a Christmas weekend, that is not "sufficient to bar a suit against that employee on the basis of tribal sovereign immunity." *Lewis*, 137 S. Ct. at 1288. Because the Court of Appeals ignored controlling state and federal law, and this jurisdictional question of tribal sovereign immunity is one of substantial public interest, this Court should grant discretionary review.

This document contains 4,061 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.