FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/31/2022 12:26 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101384-1

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### MARGRETTY RABANG and ROBERT RABANG,

Petitioners,

v.

RORY GILLILAND, MICHAEL ASHBY, ANDY GARCIA, RAYMOND DODGE, and JOHN DOES 1-10,

Respondents.

## RESPONDENT RAYMOND G. DODGE JR.'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Rob Roy Smith, WSBA #33798 Rachel B. Saimons, WSBA #46553 KILPATRICK TOWNSEND & STOCKTON LLP

rrsmith@kilpatricktownsend.com rsaimons@kilpatricktownsend.com 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3700 Seattle, Washington 98101

Telephone: 206 467 9600 Facsimile: 206 623 6793

Attorneys for Respondent Raymond G. Dodge Jr.

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

### III. ARGUMENT

### A. Review Is Not Warranted Under RAP 13.4(b)

The Rabangs seek review under three different subparts of Rule of Appellate Procedure (RAP) 13.4(b). First, they assert that the Court of Appeals' Opinion "stands in conflict with decisions by the Washington State Supreme Court and the U.S. Supreme Court." Pet. for Review at 13. Second, the Rabangs allege that the Opinion "conflicts with [Division I's] own published decisions." *Id.* Third, the Rabangs contend that the issues underlying this appeal are a matter of substantial public interest. *Id.* For the reasons set forth below, each of these arguments fails. There is no legitimate basis for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b), and this Court should therefore decline the Rabangs' petition.

## 1. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Not in Conflict with Any State or Federal Supreme Court Decision

The Rabangs argue that the Court of Appeals' Opinion is in conflict with the United States Supreme Court's opinion in *Lewis v. Clarke*, 137 S. Ct. 1285 (2017) and other "decisions by the Washington Supreme Court," presumably referring to *Wright v. Colville Tribal Enter. Corp.*, 159 Wn.2d 108, 147 P.3d 1275 (2006). In *Lewis*, the Supreme Court held that a Tribal member who was sued in his individual capacity was not entitled to sovereign immunity, as he—and not the Tribe—was the real party in interest. 137 S.Ct. at 1289. The Court explained that to determine what immunity defenses are available to a government or tribal employee, the Court must determine who the real party in interest is: the sovereign, or the individual. *Id.* at 1290. If the former, then tribal sovereign immunity bars suit, whereas, if it is the latter, then only personal immunity defenses are available. *Id.* at 1287.

Importantly, the Court emphasized that "[i]n making this assessment, courts may not simply rely on the characterization of the parties in the complaint, but rather must determine in the first instance whether the remedy sought is truly against the sovereign." *Id.* at 1290 (noting that "If, for example, an action is in essence against a State even if the State is not a named party, then the State is the real party in interest and is entitled to invoke the Eleventh Amendment's protection."). Similarly, in *Wright*, there were two holdings: first, that tribal governmental corporations conducting commercial enterprises outside the reservation were protected by tribal sovereign immunity, and second, that the supervisor sued in his official

capacity was immune from suit.<sup>3</sup> *Id.* at 116. Neither of these holdings is at odds with the Court of Appeals' Opinion in this case.<sup>4</sup>

Here, the Court of Appeals acted in line with the Supreme Court's guidance in *Lewis* by not simply relying on the Rabangs' self-serving assertion that the claims were made against the Respondents in their personal capacity, but considering the nature of the claims to identify the real party in interest. Just as the Supreme Court advised that this determination could not be based purely on the characterization of the parties in the complaint, the Court of Appeals correctly observed that "Plaintiffs . . . cannot circumvent tribal immunity through a mere pleading device." Pet'rs' App. A-0052. Accordingly, after determining that the basis for the Rabangs' claims was the issuing and enforcing of eviction orders, the Court rightly found that those actions were "squarely official in their scope" and that sovereign immunity therefore shielded the Respondents from suit. Pet'rs' App. A-0052–0055.

Moreover, even if, as the Rabangs assert, the focus of a court's inquiry in determining whether sovereign immunity applies should be on the relief that is sought rather than the nature of the claims, that analysis nonetheless yields the same finding. The Rabangs' Complaint requests relief in the form of a temporary restraining order and a preliminary and

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> To the extent the Rabangs rely upon the statement in *Wright* with respect to the application of sovereign immunity to a tribal employee sued in their personal capacity, the court's remark is not only dicta, but does not account for the need to identify the real party in interest through the analysis discussed in *Lewis* without relying solely on the characterization of the parties in the Complaint.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Division I's closer examination into whether the lawsuit was a bona fide individual capacity suit or an official capacity suit masquerading as one is also consistent with the federal case law. *E.g.*, *Cook v. AVI Casino Enterprises*, *Inc.*, 548 F.3d 718, 727 (9th Cir. 2008) ("[A] plaintiff cannot circumvent tribal immunity 'by the simple expedient of naming an officer of the Tribe as a defendant, rather than the sovereign entity."").

permanent injunction, which "enjoins permanently and restrains during the pendency of this action, Defendants and other persons acting in concert with them from intentionally or negligently inflicting further emotional distress on Plaintiffs." Pet'rs' App. A-0011. But the actions that the Rabangs claim to have been intentionally or negligently inflicted—i.e., issuing and enforcing eviction orders—were initiated by the unlawful detainer action filed by the Nooksack Indian Housing Authority (NIHA), an undisputed arm of the Tribe. Consequently, for the Respondents to be enjoined or restrained from issuing eviction orders, NIHA would have to withdraw its unlawful detainer action. Thus, the relief the Rabangs seek is in fact from the Tribe as a sovereign, rather than from Respondent Dodge or the Tribal Respondents in their individual capacities. Respondents are entitled to the protections of tribal sovereign immunity, just as the Court of Appeals found, and RAP 13.4(b)(1) does not provided a basis for review.

## 2. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with Other Division I Decisions

The Rabangs also claim that the Court of Appeals' Opinion conflicts with its published decision in *Long v. Snoqualmie Gaming Comm'n*, 7 Wn. App. 2d 672, 435 P.3d 339 (2019) and *Young v. Duenas*, 164 Wn. App. 343, 348–349 (2011), both of which, the Rabangs argue, require application of federal law to tribal sovereign immunity questions. Petition at 14, 15. *Long* makes clear that Washington courts "must and do apply federal law to resolve whether tribal sovereign immunity applies." 7 Wn. App. 2d at 681. But there is no indication from the Opinion nor any evidence from the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Rabangs admit in their Complaint that the Nooksack Indian Housing Authority is "a subordinate body of the Nooksack Tribal Council." Pet'rs' App. A-0003.

Rabangs that the Court of Appeals did *not* apply federal law in its analysis. In fact, the Opinion illustrates the opposite.

As the Rabangs concede, Division I cites to Young in reciting the well-established rule that "[u]nder federal law, tribal sovereign immunity comprehensively protects recognized American Indian tribes from suit absent explicit and unequivocal waiver or abrogation by congress." Pet'rs' App. A-0051. The Opinion thus plainly acknowledges that the protections of sovereign immunity are provided under federal law. And, in the Young case, when discussing the application of tribal sovereign immunity, the Court of Appeals cited to Wright v. Colville Tribal Enter. Corp.—the very case that the Rabangs claim the Court of Appeals failed to consider. Pet. at 19. Although Division I may have cited state court cases, those cases invariably relied upon federal law in their analysis of sovereign immunity. The fact that the Court of Appeals did not cite to every possible federal court case addressing sovereign immunity does not result in the conclusion that the court "overlooked" those cases or the analysis therein; for example, Long does not reference Pistor, despite being one of two cases that the Rabangs claim must be applied to tribal sovereign immunity analyses. Pet. at 14.

The Rabangs have failed to establish that Division I's decision is inconsistent or in conflict with its other published decisions, as is required for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

## 3. This Case Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Finally, the Rabangs argue that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because "whether tribal sovereign immunity should be expanded as a result of the Opinion is a matter of substantial public interest." Pet. at

13. Their argument on this point is scant, appearing to be limited a single footnote in which they assert that the Respondents have agreed that the case is of substantial public interest because of certain statements made within a Motion to Publish the Court of Appeals' Decision. Pet. at 14, n.1. This is, quite simply, not true.

To begin with, Respondent Dodge was not among the Respondents who moved to publish the decision. Therefore, the statements and/or arguments made in the motion cannot be attributed to him. Second, in the Motion to Publish, the Tribal Respondents argued that *publication* of the decision was in the general public's interest; that is not the same as arguing that this Court should review Division I's Opinion because the case presents a matter of substantial public interest. A-0044.

To determine whether an issue involves a substantial public interest, the Court considers the public or private nature of the question, the need for future guidance provided by an authoritative determination, and the likelihood of recurrence. *Eide v. State, Dep't of Licensing*, 101 Wn. App. 218, 223, 3 P.3d 208, 210 (2000). A decision that has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue. *In re Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413, (Mem)–414 (2016). By contrast, cases do not present an issue of substantial public interest when they are limited to their specific facts. *State v. Beaver*, 184 Wn.2d 321, 331, 358 P.3d 385, 390 (2015).

For example, among the issues this Court has recently found to involve a matter of sufficient public interest are: the impact of COVID-19 on correctional facilities and the Department of Corrections' response to the virus and its threat, *Matter of Williams*, 197 Wn.2d 1001, 484 P.3d 445, 447 (2021); whether the Residential Landlord Tenant Act applies to tenants contesting default judgments, *Randy Reynolds & Associates, Inc. v. Harmon*, 193 Wn.2d 143, 153, 437 P.3d 677, 682 (2019); and the adoption of a "horizontal state decisis" rule which "wholly reinvented the traditional duties of a Court of Appeals division," *Matter of Arnold*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091, 1092 (2017). In each of these cases, the issue was one which broadly stood to impact a significant number of people and cases.

Here, the issues do not present a matter of substantial public interest. Despite the Rabangs' attempt to expand the legal issue on appeal by claiming that Division I broadly concluded that "tribal employees stand immune from tort suit when they act within their employment scope," Pet. at 2, the question on appeal is a much narrower one. The dispositive issue is whether the Rabangs, disenrolled Nooksack Tribal Members, can sue Nooksack Tribal officials and employees in state court for certain alleged actions related to an unlawful detainer suit filed against the Rabangs in Nooksack Tribal Court by the Nooksack Indian Housing Authority for a house located on Nooksack Tribal trust lands. This is a highly fact-specific case; the alteration of any of these details could change the entire legal analysis. For the same reason, a decision in this case will not have a

significant or far-reaching impact, as it is likely to affect few—if any—proceedings in the lower courts and is unlikely to recur.

Further, the case law on tribal sovereign immunity is well-established, robust, and adequate as it currently exists, as evidenced by the many cases cited between the Rabangs' Petition and the Respondents' respective Answers. Tribal sovereign immunity is not in need of legal review or reform at this time. Even if this Court were to believe that sovereign immunity were in need of review, this case would not be the right choice for reconsidering that doctrine. Among other reasons, the factual history in this case is particularly complicated with the Rabangs' disenrollment, the Department of Interior's prior involvement, and the simultaneously-filed federal case. Review of this case by this Court would likely have limited application and utility to other litigation.

As the Rabangs have failed to establish that discretionary review in this case is warranted, the Court should deny their Petition.

### IV. CONCLUSION

Division I's Opinion correctly affirmed the trial court's dismissal of this case. The Court should decline review.

This document contains 3150 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.